New York State Department of Agriculture & Markets
Request for Proposals

Agri-Tourism Grant Program, Round II
Questions & Answers
Q:
Once a Grant is awarded, when and how are the funds (for salaries, for 
instance), disbursed?

A:
The Agri-Tourism grants program is a reimbursement program.  Monies are 
reimbursed once vouchers are received by the Department, and approved for 
payment.

Q:
What types of products are considered "materials and supplies"? Is it 
lumber, roofing material, crushed stone or is it office-type, pens, 
pencils, file folders, etc.?

A:
Lumber, roofing material, and crushed stone are considered construction 
materials and are therefore not eligible to be reimbursed by using grant funds.

Q:
The "in-kind" applicant's contributions are not supposed to include the 
"value of assets already possessed/owned"...would that mean, for 
instance, an applicant who had pre-purchased the materials to build a 
small chicken-coop, but was not able to build that chicken-coop 
without grant assistance for labor, would not be able to count the 
purchase price of the chicken-coop materials already owned as an in-
kind contribution?

A:
The Department cannot reimburse a grantee on any expenses, grant or match, 
which are incurred before the announcement date of the awards.  Also, labor 
used to construct a building or structure, i.e. chicken coop, is not eligible to be 
reimbursed using grant funds.  Labor in this case is considered a part of the 
construction, and therefore not eligible to be reimbursed using grant funds.
Q:
Can a farm apply for handicap accessibility projects the will allow 
people with disabilities to enjoy all the aspects of the farm too?  Types 
of projects would include installing handicap accessible bathrooms, 
parking areas, and “people haulers.”

A:
Costs associated with the construction of handicap bathrooms, parking areas and 
“people haulers” may be used to meet matching requirements, however, grant 
funds may not be used for: 

 

·    purchase of equipment, furniture, fixtures, machinery, computers, computer   software, inventory or structures, either intact or as component materials
·    renovation or restoration of equipment, furniture, fixture, or machinery
·    construction or renovation of buildings or structures.

Q:
Would the wages of a contractor or of the farmer to do the 
construction  of a bed and breakfast be considered eligible costs?  If 
not, what would be some examples of eligible costs be for bed and 
breakfasts?

A:
Wages, and therefore the labor, of the contractor or farmer completing 
construction, would be considered part of the structure, and not eligible for grant 
funds.  Eligible costs are listed on page 3 of the Request for Proposals (RFP).

Q:
Can purchase of land be used as an in-kind or matching expense by the 
applicant? 
A:
Land acquisition may not be used to meet match requirements.

Q:
Can you clarify what is meant by contractual services (professional, 
technical) if it is not in regards to any renovations?

A:
An example of contractual services would be using grant funds to hire an 
advertising consultant to design materials advertising an event.

Q:
Are letters of support helpful?

A:
Applicants may include letters of support.  Letters of support are not required by 
the RFP.

Q:
Does the Department have an idea of what types of projects it would 
like to focus on?

A:
The purpose of the RFP is to fund agri-tourism projects which will attract visitors 
to promote and enhance the public’s understanding and awareness of New York 
food, farms, and agriculture, and the importance of this sector to their way of 
life.

Q:
What is the total amount that will be distributed?
A:
Approximately one million dollars.
Q:
Is a county fair eligible to apply for funding?  We would like to finish 
the interior of our 4H display building.
A:
County fairs are eligible to apply for funding.  Grant funds may not be used to 
renovate buildings, purchase lighting, or address ventilation.
Q:
If an applicant applies for a $10,000 grant, and has secured the 
$10,000 match, making the total program worth $20,000 – must the 
total $20,000 be spent first prior to receiving the grant?
A:
The Agri-Tourism grants program is a reimbursement program, so funds must be 
expended and paid for before they can be reimbursed.  However, the 
Department does not require that the total amount be spent before you begin 
submitting for reimbursement.  You can submit for reimbursement as you need, 
should you apply for, and be awarded a grant.

Q:
When figuring in-kind labor, do I use minimum wage to figure the 
rate?
A:
One way of estimating in-kind labor is using the rate it would cost to perform the 
activity if you had to hire outside labor, consultants, etc.

Q:
Can we include the installation of concrete in our barn in order to use 
the area as a staging area for various festivals?

A:
The purchase and installation of concrete is considered a component material of 
a structure, and is therefore not eligible to be reimbursed using grant funds.

Q:
We need to expand the U-drive part of our driveway to allow buses to 
turn around.  Is this an eligible expense?

A:
Driveway expansion/paving is considered a component material of a structure, 
and is therefore not eligible to be reimbursed using grant funds.

Q:
Are brochures, advertisements in newspapers, web site design, and 
installation of a road farm sign all considered marketing or 
communications, and eligible expenses for the grant.
A:
Brochures, advertisements in newspapers, web site design, and installation of a 
road farm sign are all considered marketing or communications and would be 
eligible for reimbursement using grant funds if they are part of an agri-tourism 
project.
Q:
If our grant includes setting up a website, can our supplying the 
maintenance of that website for a period of years be eligible for match?

A:
Grant funds may be used for the development of that portion of a website 
directly related to the project.  Maintenance is the website is considered 
necessary in the normal course of business, and therefore is not eligible to be 
used as matching funds, nor are the costs eligible for reimbursement using grant 
funds.

Q:
My project would involve building a structure.  Does the designer or 
contractor for the project need to be licensed by New York State, or is 
it possible to hire a highly qualified neighbor?

A:
The RFP requires that all Federal, State, and local laws are obeyed.  You should 
consult your local code enforcement officer to ensure that you are complying 
with all applicable Federal, State, and local laws.  Construction or renovation of 
buildings or structures would not be considered eligible costs for reimbursement 
under the agri-tourism program.
Q:
How do I calculate wages for a one-day event?

A:
One way to estimate wages for a project or one day event is using the rate it 
would cost to perform the activity if you had to hire outside labor.  

Q:
We are asking the county to provide funding for 
demonstration/speakers, livestock exhibits, and premiums for show 
animals.  Is this an acceptable funding category for match?

A:
County funds may be used to meet the matching funds requirements of the RFP.

Q:
I am thinking of installing a “farm themed” miniature golf course.  
Would the layout of the course, lumber, etc., be considered a 
structure?  This would be “open air,” therefore no building would be 
needed.
A:
The installation of a miniature golf course would be considered construction of a 
structure, and therefore would not be considered an eligible use of grant funds.

Q:
Will the grant match some of the monies that have already been put 
into a project, or do I figure the monies on future marketing and 
production?

A:
Should you apply for, and be awarded, an Agri-Tourism grant, the Department 
cannot reimburse any expenses which are incurred before the awards 
announcement date.

Q:
Would the grant help to cover the costs of marketing at shows all over 
the State?

A:
Yes, using grant funds to cover the costs of marketing at shows would be an 
acceptable use of grant funds.

Q:
May two or more farms and/or small businesses within 3 miles of each 
other link activities, programs, or promotions and apply for the grant 
together?

A:
Projects involving multiple participants or locations will qualify for consideration.

Q:
If food cooking (demonstrations only) is involved in the proposal, 
must the kitchen be NYS Agriculture and Markets inspected and 
certified according to the Department’s criteria?

A:
The RFP states that all Federal, State, and local laws must be followed.  Please 
consult with the Department’s Division of Food Safety and Inspection regarding 
your particular need.  You may reach them at 518.457.4492.

Q:
May the applicants for the project pay grant wages to themselves to 
administer and implement the proposal?

A:
Yes, applicants for the project may pay grant wages to themselves to administer 
and implement the proposal.

Q:
Can our county’s revolving loan fund be counted as matching funds?

A:
Yes, the county’s revolving loan fund can be used as matching funds.

Q:
Just for a timeline, when are the awards expected to be granted?

A:
Approximately January, 2008.

Q:
Can you clarify the definition of “New York State funding sources” and 
“New York State funds?”  Does this include funding through a not-for-
profit organization from NYS?  Does this include the “Pride of New 
York” organization?

A:
As stated in the RFP, New York State funds cannot be used to meet the matching 
funds requirement.  In the case of a not-for-profit receiving funding from New 
York State and other private or public funding sources, the New York State funds 
cannot be used to meet the matching requirements.  For example, a not-for-
profit is proposing to use staff time devoted to the project to meet the matching 
requirements set forth in the RFP.  The not-for-profit receives funding from New 
York State and other private and public organizations.  The not-for-profit must 
show in the application that the funds used to pay that portion of the staff 
person’s time devoted to the proposed project is paid for by a non-New York 
State source of funding.  The “Pride of New York” organization is the marketing 
program of the NYS Department of Agriculture and Markets, and therefore, 
cannot be used to meet the matching requirements set for in the RFP.
Q:
Some members of a LLC located in New York State are not residents of 
New York State.  Are they eligible to apply?

A:
The RFP does not require applicants be New York State residents.

Q:
Are materials covered to build picnic tables or can we rent tables and 
chairs?

A:
Materials to build the picnic tables are not an eligible use of grant funds, 
however rental of tables and chairs is an eligible expense.

Q:
Are shirts, t-shirts, hats and jackets purchased and printed with our 
farm logo and phone number considered part of an advertising and 
marketing expense?

A:
Shirts, t-shirts, hats and jackets purchased and printed with the farm logo are 
considered advertising/marketing, and therefore are eligible expenses.

Q:
Can we lease portable livestock pens for livestock viewing at events?

A:
Purchase of the livestock pens is not an eligible expense, however, leasing them 
is an eligible expense.

Q:
Is leasing porta-potties an eligible expense?

A:
Leasing of porta-potties is an eligible expense.

Q:
Do I need a letter of in-kind from the participants, or can I just list 
them and amounts?

A:
For the purposes of submitting a proposal, a list of the sources for the matching 
funds and corresponding amounts is adequate.  Proof of the matching funds will 
be required before executing a contract, if the project is awarded.

Q:
Do I need to identify each individual farm involved, or note that our 
guests will experience corn harvesting?

A:
The RFP states that one of the criteria that proposals will be rated against is 
“Reasonableness and feasibility of the proposal and the plan to carry out the 
project”.  Any information provided that will answer this criteria will help to 
increase the score of this criteria.  Please see page 5 of the RFP for a full list of 
the Funding Criteria.
Q:
My client is planning to open a coffee shop featuring locally produced 
products.  How much of her start-up expenses for rent, insurance, 
advertising, accountant, inventory, etc., would be eligible for funding?

A:
As stated on page 4 under “ineligible costs for funding,” the Department cannot 
reimburse for activities in the normal course of the applicant’s operation.  
Opening and operating a coffee shop would be considered the normal course of 
business, and therefore any start-up expenses incurred would not be eligible to 
be reimbursed using grant funds.
Q:
Can the matching funds be all in-kind, or does a percentage have to be 
in cash?
A:
The RRP does not require that a percentage of the match be in cash.

Q:
I am applying for the grant with a consortium that includes public 
schools and universities.  Since these are state-funded institutions, 
would salaries and other in-kind contributions be eligible?

A:
Salaries and other in-kind contributions paid for with State funds are not eligible 
to be used as match.  However, salaries and other in-kind contributions paid for 
with non-New York State funds are eligible to be used as match.

Q:
Are fences used to confine heritage livestock considered an eligible 
cost for funding?  

A:
Grant funds may not be used to reimburse the cost of purchasing or installing 
fencing of any kind, as it is considered a permanent structure, and therefore 
construction.
Q:
Would supplies and materials such as tables, shelves, appliances, 
dishes, silverware, etc., used to outfit a store and restaurant qualify for 
funding?

A:
Tables, chairs, silverware, appliances, dishes, etc., are considered equipment 
necessary in the normal course of business for a restaurant and are therefore not 
eligible for reimbursement using grant funds.  The Agri-Tourism Grant Program 
funds events that promote agriculture in New York State by attracting visitors.  
Eligible supplies and materials would be used for the duration of a specific event, 
and not for the normal course of business operation.

Q:
We will be passing out product samples to large groups.  Can the costs 
of those samples be recovered under the grant?

A:
It appears as though product samples would qualify as supplies and materials.

Q:
We would like to have people able to go up and see the sugar bush, but 
the road to it is in bad shape, and there isn’t ample parking.  Would 
these costs be covered by grant funds?

A:
Grant funds may not be used to expand parking lots or construct roads, or for 
the purchase of the components and materials for the road and parking lot.

Q:
Can the value of volunteer time be used as in-kind match?  If so, how 
does one establish a value for this time?
A:
Yes, the value of volunteer time may be used as in-kind match.  The value of 
compensated time may be used to determine the value of like volunteer time.

Q:
Does this grant have an “all or nothing” philosophy, or do you often 
award partial amounts based on factors such as monies available, 
application appropriateness, and the like?

A:
While the intention of the RFP is to fully fund an eligible project that scores well. 
when partial awards are made, it is usually when a project is deserving, but 
certain costs do not meet eligibility as described on page 3 of the RFP.

Q:
Is there a word limit or length limit to the proposal?

A:
No, there is no word limit or length requirement stated in the RFP.

Q:
How should we demonstrate matching funds for the project activities?

A:
It depends on the source of the matching funds.  Generally a letter from the 
funding source stating a commitment to provide the funds would be sufficient.

Q:
What do you consider technical costs?

A:
An example of technical costs eligible for reimbursement using grant funds is 
paying for the cost of a graphic designer to design a brochure that will advertise 
a special fall program for the applicant.

Q:
As owners and operators of our business, does our time qualify for 
salaries?

A:
Yes, the owners’ time qualifies as salary.

Q:
Are legal costs relating to business establishment, contract negotiation 
or review, or financial transactions eligible for grant funding?

A:
Legal costs related to an eligible project can be reimbursed using grant funds.  
Legal costs associated with the normal course of a business operation are not 
eligible.

Q:
Are any closing costs for financing that pertain to the project eligible?

A:
Closing costs for financing necessary in the normal course of business operation 
are not eligible.

Q:
Is the purchase of a vehicle eligible, or is this considered machinery & 
equipment?
A:
Purchase of a vehicle is considered machinery and equipment, and is therefore 
not eligible.

Q:
Please give a definition of the term “visitor.”

A:
Visitor is defined as one who visits, or, one who goes to see or stay at a place for 
a particular purpose (as business or sightseeing).

Q:
If there is no regular staff to use as a value for compensated time, how 
would one set a value for volunteer time?

A:
Volunteer time necessary to complete and aspect the entire specific project, as 
described and defined in the application, may count as in-kind match.  Volunteer 
time may be valued by applying the cost of hiring an outside contractor to 
complete a task that is being completed by the volunteer.
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